THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

R. Lawton McIntosh, Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2017-002011

**RECEIVED**  
OCT 09 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.**
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CHARGING THE JURY ON THE "HAND OF ONE, HAND OF ALL DOCTRINE".**
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT FOR THE APPELLANT FOR THE CHARGE OF MURDER.**
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS.**

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On March 28, 2016, Appellant Jason Carver (hereinafter referred as "Appellant") worked a full day at the Greenville Transmission shop, where he has toiled since 1999. Around 6:00 in the afternoon, he arrived at James Milton Gambrell's (hereinafter referred as Gambrell) house, where he worked on cars to supplement his income. That night, he was supposed to finish a transmission that he had been working on during the course of the preceding weekend.

At some point in the afternoon, deceased Stephen Cameron (hereinafter referred as "Cameron") came to Gambrell's house to sell his dirt bike to Gambrell's nephew, Quay. He was able to get a bill of sale created and executed the sale. Cameron stayed at the house for some considerable time to teach Quay how to ride the dirt bike. As a result of the sale, Cameron was left without a ride home. Upon learning that Cameron had no ride, and recognizing he was drunk, Gambrell asked Appellant to give Cameron a ride home. Appellant complied and drove Cameron to his home.

While Appellant was taking Cameron home, Gambrell and Woodrow Curry (hereinafter referred as "Curry") discovered that an item was missing from Gambrell's room. They believed Cameron had taken it prior to leaving.

Appellant and Cameron arrived at the latter's home at approximately 9:02. Appellant, nor Cameron, had a cellphone. So, Gambrell had no way of asking them to come back. Thus, Appellant simply dropped Cameron off and returned to Gambrell's home.

Upon his arrival to Gambrell's home, the latter told him that he needed him to return to Cameron's home and bring him back to the house. Curry jumped in the car with Appellant as the latter prepared to go back to Cameron's house. Appellant understood he was to bring Cameron back to Gambrell's house. Appellant left Mr. Gambrell's home without knowledge of the theft. The only thing he knew about Cameron at that point was the latter's transaction regarding the dirt bike.

When Curry got in the car, a handgun fell from his pocket. Appellant was shocked to see the gun. He had no idea why a gun would be necessary. In an effort to downplay the need for a gun, he told Curry that there would be no need for a gun with two of them there. Curry left the gun on the floorboard of the car.

Upon arrival at Cameron's house, Curry knocked on the door. When no one answered, Curry and Appellant headed back to the car. Curry, however, noticed Cameron peeking out the window. Curry turned back and started to the porch. As he ascended the stairs, and approached the door, Cameron came out of the house in an aggressive manner. Curry announced that he and Gambrell knew that Cameron had taken an ounce of cocaine from Gambrell's home. Cameron immediately denied taking such an action. Curry continued to accuse Cameron of

theft; and, requested that he return it or pay for it. At that point, Cameron pushed Curry. He pushed him with such force that he nearly knocked Curry off of the porch. Out of nowhere, Curry drew out a gun; and, pointed the same toward Cameron. Upon seeing the incident, Appellant immediately began pleading with Curry to put the gun away. Cameron, showing no fear of the gun, slapped the gun out of his face and said incredulously, "what are you going to do, shoot me?" As Curry brought the gun back up, he shot Cameron.

Appellant, recognizing that his attempts to dissuade Curry fell on deaf ears, decided he would not be part of the argument and started towards the car, intending to leave Curry behind. Shocked and fearful for his life, Appellant attempted to put the key into the ignition, but in his state of panic, dropped the keys to the floorboard. By the time he collected the keys, Curry had gotten in the car; brandished the gun towards Appellant; and, demanded he drive the car out of the neighborhood with the lights off. Appellant complied. On the drive to Gambrell's home, Curry warned Appellant he would kill him and his mother, if Appellant told anyone of the incident.

When they got back to Gambrell's house, Appellant began crying. Curry, on the other hand, casually remarked, "Shit got out of hand." His apathetic view towards Cameron's life struck a nerve in Gambrell; and, they began to argue vociferously. Appellant took this opportunity to show himself out. He went directly to his mother's home. Minutes later, he witnessed Curry drove by in his green Grand Am. (R. p. 654 & p. 655, 1.9).

Appellant took Curry's threats to heart. He knew he had just seen Curry shoot Cameron. He knew he had just seen Curry drive by his mother's home. Given Curry's violent tendencies, Appellant did not wish to give him reason to believe he told on him. So, when Detective

Marzolf and Detective Call initially questioned him at his workplace, he did not disclose the shooting. (R. p. 658-660, 18.6).

On Thursday April 11, 2016, an opportunity presented itself to tell the police what had happened. Law enforcement executed a search warrant of Gambrell's home on Appaloosa. They found Curry, but not Gambrell, who was absent from his home. Curry took ownership of the cocaine that was located. Based on the weight found, Curry was charged with trafficking cocaine. With Curry safely behind bars, Appellant immediately sought to do the right thing.

On that Monday morning, Appellant sought the advice of his employer, Mr. Timothy Jacobs (hereinafter referred to as "Jacobs"), who suggested he share the incident with his mother, and go directly to the police. Thereafter, Appellant decided to go to the police without an attorney because he knew that he had nothing to hide. Appellant convinced Gambrell to talk with the police about what they knew of the incident that transpired on March 28, 2016. (R. p. 660, 19.24). Appellant only learned of the stolen item during their drive to the sheriff's office, when Gambrell told him about it. (R. p. 673, 17.24). Confident Curry would not be able to hurt his mother, Appellant went to the police, intending to assist them with details of the shooting incident. Instead, he was arrested and charged with murder.

At the trial, the State and the defense differed over the events that led to Cameron's killing. According to the State, Appellant was connected to a drug trade, and that Curry and Appellant worked for Gambrell. The State's theory was that Gambrell, Curry and the Appellant planned to collect on a drug debt, rob or kidnap Cameron. In support of its theory the State presented eleven (11) investigating officers, who seemed to have not been coordinating with one another; and Curry, the self-confessed shooter.

Detective Kreig Marzolf (hereinafter referred as "Marzolf"), the lead investigator in the case, testified to the following: (1) there were two (guns), a .25 and a .38 caliber revolver involved in this case (R. p.521, 8.23); (2) the .25 was not recovered, but the .38 caliber revolver was found at Appaloosa (R. p. 528-529, 20.1); (3) the residence where Buick was found was owned by Gambrell's friend (R. p. 495, 11.15); (4) Appellant was not provided any gun (R. p., 526, 3.14); (5) Appellant's fingerprints did not match the one found on the .38 caliber (R. p. 529, 2.9); (6) Appellant came to the ACSO voluntarily; (7) there had been people who had come and gone from Cameron's house, (R. p. 500; p. 509, 3.6); (8) Angie's friend came to the deceased's house and rolled his body (R. p. 500, 8.11); (9) Daniel White accompanied Detective Henry to the residence where the Buick was found (R., p. 504, 6.8); (10) Daniel White gave a statement that Christopher's girlfriend, Angela, planned on robbing Cameron (R. p. 507, lines 23-25& pp. 508, lines 1-3); (11) ACSO reviewed two videos but he did not review all the videos taken during the night of the shooting (R. p. 509, 7.12); (12) he could not say that Appellant was part of any drug enterprise (R., p. 520, 2.6); (13) Appellant was not in Gambrell's residence when cocaine was taken (R. p. 525-526, 23.1); (14) Curry expressed to Appellant and Mrs. Curry that if they told anyone about anything, he would kill them (R. 531-532, 18.1); and, (15) Appellant was a witness to Curry shooting Cameron (R. p. 532, 2.5).

The State also presented Curry as a state witness. The State provided Curry with the opportunity to plead to voluntary manslaughter as opposed to murder. Curry testified among other things, that: (1) he worked for Gambrell for three (3) years (R. p. 570, 5.7); (2) Appellant took Cameron home and was gone for twenty or thirty minutes (R. p. 570, 14.16); (3) Gambrell discovered that cocaine was missing and told Curry about it (R. p. 570, 21.25; p. 390, 4.12); (4) Gambrell gave him a gun (R. p. 571, 13.15); (5) he had a .25 caliber gun in his waistband (R. p.

563-564, 22.13); (6) the minute Appellant pulled in the driveway, Gambrell and Curry told him that he needed to go back and get Cameron (R. p. 572, 21.24); (7) Appellant had a shiny gun that had a long barrel (R. p. 573, 22.25); (8) there was no plan to kill anybody (R. p. 574, 20.25); (9) he left the .38 caliber in the car (R. p. 574, 1.5); (10) he talked to Cameron and relayed that Gambrel wanted his drugs back or pay for it (R. p. 575, 8.12); (11) Cameron started pushing him and as a result he pulled his unknown gun and shot Cameron (R. p. 575, 22.4); (12) he was charged with murder but pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter (R. p. 553, 4.5); and, (13) despite his many charges before, this was the first time his sentence was deferred (R. p. 557). The State did not introduce into evidence the gun which Appellant allegedly used.

The prosecution also presented a surveillance video, taken from one of the deceased's neighbors, showing the traffic onto Cameron's property. It showed the first time Appellant drove Cameron to his house. Sometime after, it showed the white Buick, that Appellant drove the second time he went to Cameron's house, as instructed by Gambrell. The surveillance video had a two-hour time gap.

For his part, since Curry threatened Appellant and his mother's life, Appellant intended to establish Curry's propensity for violent behavior. Appellant called Sheila Curry, the wife of Curry, who admitted that her husband threatened to kill her and her son, if they were to discuss what had happened. (R. p. 583, 13.17).

Appellant also presented his employer, Timothy Jacobs, who testified that he has known Appellant since 1999. Appellant worked at Greenville Transmission Clinic, which Jacobs owns. (R. p. 586-587, 20.15). He vouched for Appellant's reliable, loving, hardworking and family-oriented personality. (R. p. 587-589, 16.2).

Gambrell was also called as defense witness. The Court refused to allow Gambrell to testify. The judge failed to provide any reason for same. He did allow Appellant to examine him outside the presence of the jury. The Court indicated to Gambrell that he was strongly opposed to him testifying. Gambrell had his counsel present. Appellant merely sought to establish he was not at Gambrell's home long enough to learn of the alleged theft.

However, the Court would have not any part of him testifying. The Court stopped Gambrell from testifying, despite the fact his learned counsel was there to offer him advice. The court mandated that Gambrell leave the courtroom with his attorney and exercise his right to remain silent. (R. p. 605-609, 1.12).

Appellant believed that Gambrell would have testified as to what he relayed to Appellant, would have exonerated the latter from the murder charge. Since Gambrell could no longer stand in court, Appellant attempted to introduce the audio recording of Gambrell's police interrogation. The court initially denied Appellant's request, deciding that it did not meet the standards as set forth in State v. Doctor, 413 S.E.2<sup>nd</sup> 36, and would not exculpate Appellant. (R. p. 620, 5.16).

Appellant also subpoenaed Quay Gambrell to testify on the sale of the dirt bike. When the witness failed to attend the hearing, the Court refused to extend or continue the trial, ruling that the witnesses' testimonies were immaterial to the guilt of Appellant. (R. p. 709, 7.25 & p. 710, 1-16).

At the close of evidence, the judge charged the jury. The jury's instructions included discussion of murder and the accomplice liability theory. Following the deliberations, Appellant was convicted of murder on August 25, 2017. He moved to vacate or arrest the

verdict; or, in the alternative grant a new trial, but was denied in an Order, dated September 14, 2017.

Appellant perfected his appeal. (R. p. 22). He was finalizing the record on appeal when he learned of the trial for Gambrell. Gambrell was charged with “Accessory before the fact to a Felony” and “Solicitation to Commit Murder”. Detective Marzolf and Curry were made State witness against him. These two witnesses offered statements that were either not introduced or ran inconsistent with their previous testimonies in Appellant’s case. Appellant believed that these statements should be explored in depth as they go to the very core of the crime for which Appellant was convicted and sentenced to thirty (30) years of imprisonment.

Appellant moved to hold his appeal in abeyance based on newly discovered evidence on October 19, 2018, which this Court granted on December 10, 2018.

In the trial court, Appellant filed his Motion for New Trial on December 20, 2018. He amended the same on December 27, 2018, which was summarily denied on January 4, 2019. Appellant moved to reconsider the said Order on January 14, 2019 and submitted an Addendum to it on January 17, 2019. The trial judge denied the motion on January 30, 2019.

On February 7, 2019, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal and moved to consolidate the two (2) appeals. This Court granted the Motion to Consolidate on April 4, 2019.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006).

### **ARGUMENTS**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL**

##### **A. Newly Discovered Evidence surfaced that**

**warrants the examination of this case.**

The trial of James Milton Gambrell in the murder case of Steven Cameron, ushered new evidence that was not available during Appellant's trial. The newly discovered evidence consists of trial testimonies of Curry and Gambrell, as well as statements by witnesses in Gambrell's trial. Appellant could not have obtained this evidence during his trial since they were either intentionally omitted or were fabricated.

From the inception of this case, the State relied heavily on Curry's testimonies, which have been proven to be inconsistent and unreliable in many instances.

First, during the trial for Appellant's case, Curry denied having named anyone as the shooter, insisting that it was him who shot Cameron.

14. Q. When you originally spoke to  
15. detectives who did you say shot Steven  
16. Cameron?  
17. A. I didn't.  
18. Q. You didn't?  
19. A. (Negative gesture).  
20. Q. So you're telling us today who shot  
21. Steven Cameron?  
22. A. Yes, ma'am. It just happened, I  
23. didn't mean to shoot him. He was just coming  
24. at me. I don't even remember pulling the  
25. trigger, it just went—(pause)—I wish I  
01. could turn back time, but I can't.  
02. Q. Thank you, Mr. Curry. Please answer  
03. any questions that Mr. Smith may have for  
04. you.

(R. p. 554-555, 14.4)

However, in the Gambrell trial, Appellant learned that Curry, initially tried to pin the shooting on Appellant. Marzolf, who interviewed Curry, testified to the following:

16. Q. Now, did Mr. Curry, the shooter, admit to you what  
17. had happened, or did he deny all knowledge of what had  
18. happened?

19. A. He gave me a version of what had happened in which  
20. he said that they did go to the house and that Jason  
21. Carver was the shooter that night.  
22. Q. But didn't Mr. Curry later change his mind and  
23. admit that, in fact, he was the shooter?  
24. A. Yes, sir, he did.  
25. Q. But at the time he was lying about that to you,  
01. correct?  
02. A. Yes, sir.

(R. p. 806-807, 16.2).

Second, when Curry was asked what he did after leaving Cameron's house during Curry's trial, Curry stated in a straightforward manner that they went back to Gambrell's house.

03. Q. What did you and Jason Carver do  
04. when you left Steven Cameron's house?  
05. A. Went back to Milt's.

(R. p. 552, 3.5).

However, when the same question was asked at the Gambrell trial, Curry revealed, for the first time, that he called Gambrell on the way back to his house and told him of Cameron's shooting.

09. Q. Okay. Did you do anything on the way to  
10. Mr. Gambrell's house?  
11. A. Yes, ma'am. I called him there and told him  
12. that he better be sure that Steven got that dope. I  
13. mean, I just shot him.  
14. Q. You called Milt and told him that?  
15. A. Yes, ma'am.

(R. p. 810, 9.15).

Out of nowhere, the prosecutor asked Curry if he did anything on the way to Gambrell's home. This response was not elicited during Appellant's trial. It is very clear from the direct examination that the solicitor brought out Curry's alleged call to Gambrell to paint the picture of the consigliere calling the mob boss after he had done a dirty deed on his behalf.

Gambrell contradicted Curry's claims. In his sworn affidavit, Gambrell categorically denied that Curry called him since Curry had no phone at the time. (R. p. 280). The State did not offer Gambrell or Curry's respective phone records from the night of the incident to support Curry's statements. It is the Appellant's belief that there has never been such proof, given the fact that Curry did not have a phone.

Third, at Appellant's trial, Curry testified that Gambrell instructed Appellant to drive Cameron to his house.

- 21. Q. What were y'all doing?
- 22. A. Well, at the time—at the time I
- 23. was working on a car. I was working on a car
- 24. and I guess he was in there with them. Then
- 25. Milton came out there and told Jason to take
- 01. Steven home.

(R. p. 544-545, 21.1).

In his subsequent testimony at Gambrell's trial, Curry implied that Appellant voluntarily took Cameron home.

- 16. Q. What we're y'all doing?
- 17. A. Well, I mean like I say, I was out there
- 18. working – to begin with, I was out there working on a
- 19. car. Carver wasn't even there yet. I was working on a
- 20. car there, and they was in the house. Steven had come
- 21. over with a dirt bike, and he was in the house.
- 22. And then later on, when Carver got off work, he
- 23. come over there like he normally did. He went in the
- 24. house and come back out, him and Steven there, and he
- 25. took Steven home.

(R. p. 809, 16.25).

Fourth, Curry, implicated Appellant by testifying that he had a gun when they went to Cameron's house, only to deny the same in his subsequent testimony.

- 15. Q. Did you have a gun when you left
- 16. Appaloosa Drive?

17. A. Yes.  
18. Q. Where did you get that gun?  
19. A. Milton Gambrell.  
20. Q. Did Jason Carver have a gun when you  
21. left Appaloosa Drive?  
22. A. Yes.  
23. Q. Where did he get that gun?  
24. A. It was his.  
25. Q. Did you have more than one gun with  
01. with you?  
02. A. Yes.  
03. Q. How many guns did you have?  
04. A. Two.  
05. Q. Do you remember what kind of guns  
06. they were?  
07. A. .38 and a .22--.25, I mean.

(R. p. 547-548, 15.7).

However, in the same examination, Curry stated:

02. Q. And the weapon that you said that  
03. you had seen, was that the same weapon that  
04. you allege that he had at this time?  
05. A. I don't know that he owned one.  
06. Q. The one with the sight on it, the  
07. one that he allegedly brought out and showed  
08. you previous to his incident, you still  
09. don't know what that is?  
10. A. No, sir.

(R. p. 549, 2.10).

Gambrell confirmed that Appellant did not have a gun on March 28 or 29, 2016. (R. p. 280). Gambrell stated that the only time he saw Appellant with a gun was in 2015, one year prior to the shooting incident. At that time, Appellant was showing his brother's gun to Gambrell. *Id.*

Fifth, in recalling what transpired between him and Cameron, Curry testified that he only realized that he had a gun with him when Cameron came charging at him and that he had no choice but to shoot the latter.

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