ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Anderson County

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JASON FRANKLIN CARVER,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-002011

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

OCT 28 2019

SC Court of Appeals

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

II. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Instructing The Jury On “Hand Of One, Hand Of All” Where The Evidence Presented At Trial Supported That Appellant’s Codefendant Murdered The Victim, Appellant Was Present, And Prior To The Murder Appellant And Codefendant Were Planning On Either Kidnapping Or Robbing The Victim As Redress For A Prior Drug Theft.

Issue Preservation

Appellant failed to preserve the above issue for appellate review, as he failed to offer any objection to the court’s jury charge during trial. See *State v. Williams*, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401

S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (“A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review.”). The trial court gave Appellant the opportunity to object at both the charge conference and at the conclusion of the jury charge. Appellant declined both times. R. p. 698; p. 737; *see State v. Stone*, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985) (“[A] defendant’s failure to object to the charge as made or to request an additional charge, when an opportunity has been afforded to do so, results in a waiver of his right to complain about the charge on appeal.”).

Standard of Review

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). In reviewing jury charges for error, appellate courts must consider the trial court's charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 90, 747 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2013) (citation omitted). “A jury charge is correct if, when read as a whole, the charge adequately covers the law.” *Id.* at 90-91, 747 S.E.2d at 448. A charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. *Id.* “[I]f as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” *State v. Jackson*, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989).

Analysis

“The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial.” *State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 325 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *State v. Harrison*, 343 S.C. 165, 539 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2000)). “A trial court has a duty to give a requested instruction that correctly states the law applicable to the issues and which is supported by the evidence. *Id.* If any evidence exists to support a charge, it should be given.” *Id.*, (citing *State v. Burriss*, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999)).

Under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability, a person who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is criminally liable for everything done by his accomplice incidental to the execution of the common plan. *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 648, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999). Our Supreme Court has further held that “[l]ike a lesser-included offense, an alternate theory of liability may only be charged when the evidence is equivocal on some integral fact and the jury has been presented with evidence upon which it could rely to find the existence or nonexistence of a fact.” *Barber v. State*, 393 S.C. 232,236, 712 S.E.2d 436,439 (2011). In *Barber*, four men committed an armed robbery and, during the robbery, one of the men shot two of the victims. *Id.* at 234-35, 712 S.E.2d at 437-38. On appeal, Barber argued the evidence at trial did not support a jury charge on accomplice liability. *Id.* at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 438. Our Supreme Court noted “[t]o support an accomplice liability charge in this case, the question is whether there is any evidence that another co-conspirator was the shooter and Barber was acting with him when the robbery took place.” *Id.* at 237, 712 S.E.2d at 439. Under this test, the Court ultimately found the trial court did not err in instructing the jury on accomplice liability because “the sum of the evidence presented at trial, both by the State and defense, was equivocal as to who was the shooter.” *Id.* at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 439; see *State v. Lee*, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 835 (1989) (“The law to be charged to the jury is to be determined by the evidence presented at trial.”).

Here, the evidence presented at trial supported the inference that Appellant and his accomplices conspired to kidnap or rob the victim, leading to his murder. See *State v. Fleming*, 243 S.C. 265, 274, 133 S.E.2d 800, 805 (1963) (holding the State need not show a formal expressed agreement to prove parties acted as accomplices, but may prove the agreement by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties). The State presented testimony from

codefendant Woodrow Curry. Curry testified that after it was discovered that the victim had stolen drugs from James Gambrell, Gambrell instructed Curry and Appellant to go to Cameron's house and either get money, the drugs, or bring Cameron back. *See R. p. 546, l. 20 – p. 547 l. 7; p. 567, ll. 3-7.* Curry testified that Gambrell then provided Curry with two guns. *See R. p. 547, l. 15 – p. 548, l. 7.* Moreover, he stated that Appellant had his own gun prior to departing for the victims house. *See R. p. 547, ll. 20-24.* Curry also testified that Appellant drove to and from the murder scene and was present at the moment of the shooting. *See R. p. 548, ll. 8-10; p. 549, ll. 11-15; p. 551, ll. 9-22.* Curry's testimony is evidence that he, Gambrell, and Appellant were involved in a criminal scheme, to commit armed robbery and/or kidnapping, that went tragically wrong. *See State v. Thompson, 374 S.C. 257, 261–62, 647 S.E.2d 702, 704–05 (Ct. App. 2007)* (internal quotation omitted) (“Under the hand of one is the hand of all theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose.”).⁴

Finally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in its instructions where the record shows the jury charge, as a whole, was correct. *See Logan, 405 S.C. at 90, 747 S.E.2d at 448* (holding appellate courts must consider the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence presented at trial when reviewing the instructions for error). The court instructed the jury at length on the law of the case, including the elements of the charged crimes, witness credibility and reasonable doubt. (R. p. 720, l. 4 – p. 730, l. 15). During the accomplice liability charge, the court also cautioned the jury that a defendant's mere presence at the scene was insufficient to

⁴ Appellant asks this court to find error based solely on the credibility of Appellant's trial testimony, despite contradicting testimony from his codefendant. Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 30. However, “[t]he assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury.” *State v. McKerley*, at 464, 725 S.E.2d at 141.

prove he was guilty, reminding the jury that they must find the State demonstrated, beyond a reasonable doubt, that appellant actively participated in the crime. (R. p. 730, l. 16 – p. 733, l. 12). The record shows the jurors thoroughly and thoughtfully considered the entire charge, as they deliberated for close to two hours and requested that the judge repeat the instructions regarding “hand of one, hand of all.” (R. p. 767, l. 12 – p. 774, l. 13). *See Logan*, 405 S.C. at 90-91, 747 S.E.2d at 448 (holding a jury charge is correct if, when read as a whole, it adequately covers the law, and such a charge does not require reversal). Therefore, the trial court did not err in charging the jury on accomplice liability as the evidence presented at trial supported the instruction.

III. The Trial Court Properly Denied Defendant’s Motion For A Directed Verdict Because The Evidence Shows That Prior To The Murder, Appellant Was Knowingly Engaged In The Conspiracy To Rob Or Kidnap The Victim.

Standard of Review

“On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 235–36, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353–54 (2016) (quoting *State v. Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014)). “The Court’s review is limited to considering the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478–79 (2004)). “When the evidence submitted raises a mere suspicion that the accused is guilty, a directed verdict should be granted because suspicion implies a belief of guilt based on facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” *Id.* 415 S.C. at 236, 781 S.E.2d at 354. However, “[u]nless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776-77 (2011).

Analysis

Appellant argues the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict because the State failed to present evidence which reasonably tended to prove his guilt. However, the record in the present case supports the trial judge's denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion because the State presented direct evidence supporting Appellant's guilt.

“When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” *Cherry*, at 593, 606 S.E.2d at 477–78. “If the State presents any evidence which reasonably tends to prove defendant's guilt, or from which defendant's guilt could be fairly and logically deduced, the case must go to the jury.” *State v. Burdette*, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999) (citing *State v. Poindexter*, 314 S.C. 490, 431 S.E.2d 254 (1993)).

In the similar case of *State v. Harry*, the appellant appealed his murder conviction under the “hand of one, hand of all” theory of accomplice liability. He argued the circuit court erred in denying his motion for directed verdict, as the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence he acted in concert with his codefendant who had admitted shooting the victim. *State v. Harry*, 420 S.C. 290, 803 S.E.2d 272 (2017). In the Order of Dismissal, our Supreme Court set forth the following:

This tragic story culminates with an attempt by Petitioner and his enlisted cohorts to retrieve Petitioner's forty-seven-inch plasma-screen television from Kevin Bowens (Victim). Victim was shot and killed on his property by one of Petitioner's accomplices during the confrontation. The State contends the evidence demonstrates that Petitioner intended to retrieve his television by any means necessary, including the use of force. According to the State, Victim's death was therefore a natural and foreseeable consequence of Petitioner's plan to retrieve his television and, under the theory of accomplice liability that says the hand of one is the hand of all, Petitioner is guilty of murder. Petitioner counters that he only wanted to peacefully reclaim his television, he had no idea his accomplice was armed, and he actually tried to be a calming influence when the situation became tense. In light of the differing inferences that may be drawn from the evidence, we emphasize that because we are reviewing a directed verdict

motion, we are required to “ ‘view[] the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.’ ” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 235, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353 (2016) (quoting *State v. Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014)).

Harry, at 293, 803 S.E.2d at 273.

To withstand Appellant's directed verdict motion in the trial of this case, the State was required to produce evidence of Appellant's presence at the scene of the shooting as a result of a prior arranged plan to undertake an illegal act. The gist of Appellant's argument that he was entitled to a directed verdict harkens back to his argument regarding the jury charge: Appellant believes there is insufficient evidence to show he and his co-defendant were acting in concert. As explained in the first issue above, evidence was presented to show that they did in fact act in concert. The State presented the testimony of Appellant's codefendant Woodrow Curry to prove that Appellant participated in the criminal scheme to rob and/or kidnap Steven Cameron. Furthermore, during Gambrell's interview with Law Enforcement, he specified that he told Curry and Carver to go let Cameron know that they were aware he had stolen the drugs and that he needed to pay. R. 3: James-Milton-Gambrell-Second Interview- DVD: 12:30-16:40; 18:20-19:10. Furthermore, Gambrell stated that Appellant did not like the victim. R. 3: James-Milton-Gambrell-Second Interview-DVD: 41:32-41:40. Appellant has cited the proper standard of review, but rejects it in application, preferring instead to recast the evidence in a light favorable to him. *See Harry*, at 299, 803 S.E.2d at 277. Despite this, the record clearly shows that State presented evidence sufficient to overcome the nominal burden of a directed verdict.

Lastly, Appellant repeatedly asks this Court to accept the credibility of his trial testimony over that of his codefendant's. *See State v. Larmand*, 415 S.C. 23, 32, 780 S.E.2d 892, 896 (2015) (“[O]ur duty is not to weigh the plausibility of the parties' competing explanations.”).

This Court should refrain from Appellant's invitation to act as a thirteenth juror and usurp the jury's role in weighing the evidence. *See United States v. Ashley*, 606 F.3d 135, 141 (4th Cir. 2010) (internal citation omitted). ("Though a jury may not convict on the basis of 'rank speculation,' it is entitled to deduce and to infer. . . . Our system of lay juries is designed to allow jurors to draw upon common experience and to rely upon reasonable intuitions, and it is not the province of an appellate court to undermine these virtues by picking apart a properly instructed verdict.").

IV. Appellant's Trial And Subsequent Conviction Satisfied Sixth Amendment And Due Process Requirements.

Appellant raises several perceived injustices by the trial court, and asserts that these resulted in violations of his Sixth Amendment and Due Process Rights. In support, Appellant presents a ten page argument, citing very little authority. Appellant's argument is largely conclusory. *See State v. Tyndall*, 336 S.C. 8, 518 S.E.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1999) (conclusory arguments constitute an abandonment of the issue on appeal.); *State v. Colf*, 332 S.C. 313, 504 S.E.2d 360 (Ct. App. 1998) (issue is deemed abandoned if argument in brief is merely conclusory); *State v. Black*, 319 S.C. 515, 462 S.E.2d 311 (Ct. App. 1995) (a conclusory argument of an issue by appellant amounts to an abandonment of the issue). Nevertheless, careful review of the record reflects that the trial court maintained its role as judicial administrator and neutral arbiter in every issue raised by Appellant. Below, Respondent has addressed Appellant's sub-issues as presented in his Initial Brief of Appellant

- a. **"The Court denied Appellant his right to be informed of the charges against him."**

Issue Preservation

Should this court determine that in presenting the above issue, Appellant seeks to attack the sufficiency of the indictment, this issue is not preserved for review. "A challenge to the

indictment on the ground of insufficiency must be made before the jury is sworn as provided by § 17-19-90.” *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 102, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005). “Because appellant did not raise the sufficiency of the indictments before the jury was sworn, he cannot now raise this issue on appeal.” *Id.* The issue is not preserved for review.

Analysis

Appellant offers that his right to due process was violated by the State not presenting the “underlying offenses” of kidnapping and robbery prior to trial. Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 43. Appellant contend that the court committed error in “allowing the State to argue using these terms that were not part of the charge.”

Fairness and due process of law require that the defendant receive notice of the charges against him sufficient to enable him to prepare his defense. S.C. Code § 17-19-20 (1976); *see also State v. Hiott*, 276 S.C. 72, 81, 276 S.E.2d 163, 167 (1981). “In determining whether an indictment meets the sufficiency standard, the trial court must look at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all the surrounding circumstances.” *State v. Baker*, 411 S.C. 583, 589, 769 S.E.2d 860, 864 (2015) (quoting *State v. Tumbleston*, 376 S.C. 90, 97, 654 S.E.2d 849, 853 (Ct.App.2007)). In doing so, “one is to look at the ‘surrounding circumstances’ that existed pre-trial, in order to determine whether a given defendant has been ‘prejudiced,’ i.e., taken by surprise and hence unable to combat the charges against him.” *Id.*, (quoting *State v. Wade*, 306 S.C. 79, 86, 409 S.E.2d 780, 784 (1991)).

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